A Village Revolt

General Background to Protest

Between the mid-Tudor rebellions of 1536 and 1559 and the English Civil Wars, there were only a few large-scale popular disturbances which could be described as ‘revolts’; however, the term ‘village revolt’ seems appropriate for the hundreds of lesser disturbances that took place during the same period.  These small-scale riots, which were almost invariably contained within the confines of one or two local communities, were responses to alterations in land use, typically the enclosure of commons and wastes.  They involved neighbours acting together to protect manorial custom, at a time when many landholders, both large as small, were attempting to stake out claims to private property unqualified by any rights.
  There had often been small-scale disturbances in rural England following a traditional pattern of agrarian disputes arising from localised grievances.  Such riots were controlled and remarkably disciplined: rioters defied authority but acted to defend their traditional rights, which had been threatened by unscrupulous individuals. They wanted a specific grievance settled. Neighbours banded together to organize collective action against perceived injustice. Violence against people was very rare with rioters conducting themselves with a remarkable degree of restraint.  

In the early- and mid-Elizabethan periods, enclosure riots were of low-level violence, rarely revealed social conflict and frequently involved feuding among the gentry; however, repeated harvest failures in the late 1590s and growing tensions between landlord and tenant, resulting from the introduction of more rationalised systems of estate management, rack renting and tenurial disputes, all contributed to the increase in such disputes in the late-Elizabethan period.
  At this time there was a marked increase in the number law-suits relating to enclosure riots.  Legal records of enclosure disputes suggest that severe shortages of pasture, timber, and fuel were the immediate causes of the protests.  The most likely reason for this was the growing size of the population i.e. The demographic expansion of the previous two decades. It is important to note that sustained demographic growth began as early as 1520 and this tended to increase grain prices; the earlier practice of converting arable land to pasture practically ceased because more crops were needed to feed the growing population. Social conflict also played a more significant role.

Underlying causes of riots

The needs of a growing population put pressure upon land resources.  As good agricultural land grew increasingly scarce, it was only natural that the manorial lords and prospective tenants were tempted to encroach upon wastes to meet the growing demand for corn, fodder and pasture.  Popular determination to defend use-rights against new ideas of absolute and exclusive rights of private property was another underlying cause. Today most land is subject to private property rights, that is exclusive rights to the ownership of a particular piece of land with exclusive rights of use. In the sixteenth century much of the land, both freehold and copyhold, was subject to common property rights; other people in the community might have specific rights to use that land in certain ways.

While enclosure riots most frequently demonstrated popular opposition to alterations in land use, there is another aspect of motivation to be considered. A number of the enclosure disputes that Manning identified revealed long-standing feuds amongst the gentry, who also suffered economic loss through the contraction of their use rights.  Manning analysed the social status of those who led the disturbances and those who were the victims.  In the Elizabethan period the gentry were responsible for only 33 percent of the riots as compared to 41 percent during the reigns of Henry VIII and Edward VI; the proportion instigated by those of lower status, such as smallholders and cottagers increased from 16 percent 31 percent.
   In the earlier period the gentry were the victims of hedge breaking in 35 percent of cases; in the Elizabethan period that proportion rose to 49 percent.  It seems reasonable to suggest that there was a renewal of popular resentment of the gentry during the late Elizabethan period.  Increased social conflict is implicit in a significant increase in the number of enclosure riots during 1590s, and becomes quite explicit in the Midland Revolt of 1607.
  In some instances enclosure was a peripheral issue to the violent feuding between two rival factions about a completely different matter.  

Legal process

There is little evidence that the statutory penalties against enclosure rioters were ever applied at the Quarter Sessions or Assizes during the reign of Elizabeth nor did manorial courts seem to reconcile such disputes; instead the process was for complainants to initiate a private prosecution for riot at the Court of Star Chamber. This was relatively easy to do. Enclosure disputes were often ended by settlement in the Court of Star Chamber, sometimes by arbitration, but more usually in a form which preserved the interests of the enclosers and improvers.
  
The Court of Star Chamber laid down the basic elements of a riot:
· Three or more people assembled together

· An intention to perform an unlawful act by force

· Bearing of weapons and/ or intimidating or provocative words

Enclosure riots took several forms and resulted from a number of causes.  Looking at 105 cases of enclosure riot, Manning found that:

· In 89 percent of all enclosure riot cases the participants were attempting to assert a claim to the exercise of use-rights on wastes, commons and woodland.  Only one case related to the enclosure of arable land that had been previously lying in open or common field.

· 36 percent of all use- right disputes involved intakes and enclosures of wastes and commons

· 26 percent of use- right disputes concerned the enclosure and holding in severalty of pasture and meadow which had mostly been regarded as Lammas lands, open for part of the year for common of pasture

· 19 percent of use-right disputes occurred when wooded pasture was enclosed for coppicing to produce timber

· 8 percent  resulted from emparkment

· 7 percent of cases from wastes and commons being improved for interchangeable husbandry.

The penalties

The penalties inflicted on rioters depended upon the number of persons involved, their intent, and the threat to public order.  Riots committed by three to eleven persons were treated as a misdemeanour, punishable by one year in imprisonment. There was an important distinction between the forcible destruction of hedges growing out of an enclosure dispute within one or two villages, which was considered a private dispute, and the situation where rioters went from village to village advocating the general destruction of enclosure, which was considered a public matter. By 1590 the Attorney General, Edward Coke, and the judges construed the latter as levying ‘war against the Queen’ and was therefore, treason.  In such a situation the intention of the rioters was more significant than the number of rioters, provided that there were at least three individuals involved.

Conclusions and observations

A ‘simple’ enclosure riot, perpetrated by a poor husbandman and cottager, was a fairly primitive form of social protest; however, one or more enclosure riots, led by substantial yeomen or gentlemen tenants or freeholders, and combined with rent strikes or complex legal manoeuvres, were viewed as a more highly developed and sustained form of social protest. While some riots merely protested against alterations in land use, the more complicated disputes were also directed against financial control. The most politically sophisticated form of agrarian protest were those which raised common purses to pay for legal counsel and commenced counter-suits ,and enforced community solidarity by exchanging bonds and signing covenants to hold together until litigation was finished.  For example, in Pirton in 1692 many of the inhabitants agreed to defend themselves and each other if they were prosecuted for putting beasts on land enclosed by Thomas Docwra.

This last form of action represented the safe limits of social protest, because those who wanted to broaden resistance by persuading other village communities to join them in all general protest against enclosures might be charged with treason. This would put their lives, estates, households and families at risk.  Therefore protesters almost always confined their resistance within the local community, because the most that they could be accused of was riot and maintenance. These were misdemeanours normally punished only by fines. Wider demonstrations of protest were too dangerous. Therefore resistance to the erosion of use rights and the determination to preserve them for the customary tenures could only become effective through the more skilful use the royal courts of law.  However, the ability to pay increased legal costs differentiated the more substantial copyholders from their poor neighbours, and the increasing use of royal courts undermined the usefulness of manorial courts in resolving such conflicts.

Life in Pirton in the late 1580s
Generally an estimated three-quarters of the population would have been engaged in farming at the beginning of the sixteenth century, with 80 percent living at subsistence level.
  The population of England began to increase rapidly in the sixteenth century.  There was a need to increase agricultural output to satisfy these needs.  Increases in output could be achieved either by the extension of the cultivated area or technological changes.  
In the early- and mid-sixteenth century enclosure for pasture was actively discouraged; the Tillage Act of 1563 stated that arable land was to be kept as arable and not turned into pasture; however by the end the century the idea that enclosure, both for arable and pasture, had some merit was gaining ground.  Reasonable methods of carrying it through became more common and the peasantry shared its benefits.  The series of good harvests in the early 1590s persuaded Parliament to repeal the Tillage Acts in 1593; however the timing of this repeal was unfortunate because of the disastrous harvest failure in the autumn 1594, the first of four.  In 1597 because of these bad harvests and the continuing opposition to enclosing from the people, Parliament decided to re-enact statutes against them. There is no surviving evidence of any agreement to enclose by landowners or tenants in Pirton in the sixteenth century.
 Hertfordshire had only one such agreement but neighbouring Bedfordshire had three, Cambridgeshire twelve and Northamptonshire twenty-six in the early modern period.
  
All land in Pirton was held mainly in three manors, Pirton, Pirton Rectory and Pirton Doddingsells.  The land was held in three types of the tenure, freehold, copyhold and, much less frequently, leasehold.  Freehold land was usually held by a tenant for a rent, the level of which had been agreed and fixed in the medieval period and which the lord of the manor had no subsequent right to review.  Freeholders could sell or dispose of the land as they liked and were independent of the manorial system, except that they had obligations to attend manorial courts, to pay herriots and reliefs.  Copyholders, or customary tenants, were of two types: customary tenants of inheritance and customary tenants for life or lives.  In the former land descended to an heir of the customary tenant determined by the custom of the manor, but in the latter the tenure was restricted for one life or a maximum of three, after which the land reverted to the lord, who could then choose the new tenant.  Leasehold was first used on manors for the letting of demesne land.  The land let in this way was not restricted or fixed by the custom of the manor; therefore the rents represented true market value of the land and could be regularly reviewed. All manorial tenants had the right to sublet their land but often these sub-tenants who actually occupied and worked the land are not recorded. After the dissolution of the monasteries a whole new class of people, often those with a commercial background, bought and sold land.  The Copcot family, to whom we will return shortly, seem to fit into this category; however in Pirton most of the family’s land was leased from the lay rector and lord of the manor, Sir Edward Denny.

Pirton was a nucleated settlement, with a population of approximately 200.  The village was surrounded by arable common fields and had very little pastureland.
 Land in the open fields was farmed by agreement of the customary tenants and the lord of the manor.  These ordinances of the manor court were recorded in the rolls and were clearly understood by all the tenants.  A fully-developed common field system operated in Pirton, where the strips of each tenant was scattered throughout the arable fields and meadows and were subjected to common of pasture after the harvest and while lying fallow.  The time of ploughing, sowing and harvesting, as well as the type of crops to be planted, was subject to community decisions. Also commoners enjoyed use rights to pasture animals on the waste and baulks. This system impeded individual efforts at agricultural improvement and experimentation.  There was relatively little new land available for cultivation there in the sixteenth century, so the emphasis was on using new techniques of cultivation or by growing new crops.  For example, seventeenth-century inventories from the village show that more barley and wheat and less rye were being grown in the village.
  This was a transitional period in agriculture and wealthier farmers were moving towards convertible husbandry.
Narratives of Pirton Events

A Complaint in brought in Star Chamber

In October 1588 Ralph Copcot and William Hammond made a complaint to the Star Chamber against three Pirton men, Robert Auncell, John Sex and Thomas Hanscombe.
  They stated that on 22 January 1588 these three men and up to twenty others entered two closes in Pirton called Swathes and Bullsplatt and acted riotously, pulling up hedges, fences, and gates.  It was claimed that the three men had used weapons “against the Queens peace.”  Furthermore, it was said that on Lady Day they cut and spoiled hedges and their cattle spoiled sown crops.  The complainants asked for them to be subpoenaed to answer for their actions in court. The complainants also wanted to discover if Thomas Auncell, a member of the gentry and Robert’s uncle, had been advising and encouraging them. The fact that Lady Day is mentioned is significant since riots often happened on traditional holidays. There was a ritualistic element in their actions. Beasts were put on former common land as a symbolic act of reclamation and often the whole proceedings were rounded off with bonfire! 
   

The Defence

After the complaint had been heard the three defendants were asked to submit their defence.
 John Sex stated that he had nothing to do with the riot at all. Thomas Hanscombe said that as he had rights of common, he did open the gate to Swathes Close so that his cattle could go in, but he acted on his own and did not damage fences.  Robert Auncell said that it had been the custom of the village to pasture animals on fallow and unsown ground, time out of mind, but the complainants had made enclosures and therefore he and the poor people of Pirton were losing their rights of common. He denied that he cut or damaged fences on any occasion. He admitted that he did take his cattle into Swathes Close at Easter and had opened the gate, but he was on his own.  Auncell stated that Copcot and Hammond should not enclose the ground as it was common to all. He asked the court to make the complainants remove the enclosures and demanded his charges and costs when the case was dismissed.
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Interrogatories

Specific questions, known as interrogatories, were drawn up by the complainants so that they could prove that a riot had taken place.  As has been stated earlier, various criteria had to be fulfilled for an event to be called a riot.  Their questions were: 
· Are the complainants known to the defendants?

· Is the location known to the defendants?

· Did they act alone in carrying out the damage?

· Was the act carried out at night or in the day, was it done more than once?

· What was the intention and was anyone persuaded by Thomas Auncell to cause a riot?

Answers

John Sex said that although he knew the complainants and the location, said he was not involved. Thomas Hanscombe and Robert Auncell stated that although they did take their cattle and those of other poor people of Pirton into the field at diverse times, they went alone. They said that they were not guilty of causing any damage to fences or gates.  Finally they said that they were not incited to cause a riot, nor did they cause others to riot.

Comment

If the defendants were telling the truth, there was no case to answer. The criteria for riot had not been met.  Interestingly the men were not questioned about bearing weapons or using intimidating words; therefore, there had been no breach of the peace. It was a case of trespass which was a civil offence.  Although the verdict does not survive, it seems likely that Copcot and Hammond lost the case because there followed another action by them against Auncell. Were they taking revenge? It is clear from the next case that Auncell had been economical with the truth. His brother indicated that Robert did remove fences, but he appears to have felt that he was acting to defend what he saw as his legitimate rights. These were traditional rights which were threatened by the actions of unscrupulous individuals.
A Quarter Sessions case

A petition was presented by Thomas Auncell to the Quarter Sessions held at Hatfield in 1588 or later that year.
  This describes the revenge that Copcot and Hammond took on Robert Auncell. Copcot accused Auncell of making a false report about him and his wife Beatrice. Robert had alleged that there was a breach between Ralph Copcot and his wife one evening, and weapons were drawn.  Churchwardens and sidesmen, two of whom were Robert’s brothers, presented the case to the Archdeaconry Court in Baldock. They declared that Mrs Copcot was “of common fame of unchaste life”.  Robert gossiped about this. Copcot was already angry with Robert because he had lost the case in the Star Chamber.  He must have realised that Robert had outwitted him as Thomas Auncell admitted that his brother did throw down fences, which was rather injudicious of Thomas.
Copcot, his wife and William Hammond had tried to create trouble between Auncell and his own wife, by causing her to be suspicious of Robert Auncell and Alice Hanscombe. They encouraged a man called Cranfield, who lived at Shefford, to libel Auncell and Hanscombe. These libels were only verified by poor men of the parish who could not read.  Ralph and Beatrice Copcot and Hammond had tried to make Auncell’s wife say that Alice was a whore, but she would not and so Auncell’s wife was imprisoned at the Parsonage against her husband’s will.  Copcot, Beatrice and Hammond made one of the churchwardens present Robert Auncell to a church court but the case was thrown out.- a complicated set of accusations and counter-accusations. Unfortunately, neither of the presentments to the Archdeaconry Court survives and so there are no records to analyse. The Archdeaconry Courts were known as bawdy courts, as so many cases of adultery were presented to them.
At the Quarter Sessions, Thomas Auncell, who presented the petition, wanted the justices to consider the manner of trouble that Beatrice Copcot has caused. He implied that Beatrice was the troublemaker rather than Copcot or Hammond.  Other libels had been made against the Pirton minister
 and other parishioners of Pirton.  These libels were hung on the maypole and also broadcast in Hitchin. Was this a moral issue?

The Sessions Rolls record the outcome of the petition: in November 1588, William Hammond, described as a yeoman, appeared before the magistrate, who happened to be the lord of the manor of Pirton, Thomas Docwra, and a recognisance was taken.  Hammond was bound over for £10.
  A writ of supersedeas had been issued from the Queen’s Bench on 14 November and William Hammond was released from his recognisance. This brush with the law does not appear to have shaken his standing in the community because by the next session he had again been chosen to be a member of the Grand Jury.
 Perhaps social standing was more important than allegations made in court!
In January 1589 Robert Auncell and his brothers William and Thomas took recognisances to appear and be of good behaviour at the next session and they were subsequently bound over for £10 and £5 respectively.
 At the Epiphany session two days later the brothers appeared and were joined by their mother Martha. This time they were bound over for £20 and £10 respectively until next session.
  At the Easter session on 7 April only Robert and Thomas appeared. They were bound over again, with a condition that they came to the next session with a testament of good behaviour signed by four inhabitants of Pirton including the minister. They must have met this condition because by July at the Midsummer session they were finally discharged.

Why did William Hammond who perpetrated the crime only make one court appearance, while Robert Auncell made three?  Did Auncell’s inferior status have anything to do with it?

Why were the Copcots not mentioned at all? Was power and influence at work?  It must have cost the Auncells quite a lot of money as they apparently appeared at Hatfield House in person to answer their recognisances.

Why were these people involved in the Pirton enclosure riots?

The research which formed the basis of this essay suggests a series of questions. Who were these people who were involved in the Star Chamber and Quarter Sessions cases?  How do they fit into the community of Pirton in the sixteenth century?  What was their status, position in the community and behaviour? Table 1 shows the personal profiles of the individuals involved.

Table 1: Personal profiles of the individuals involved
	NAME
	STATUS
	RELATIONSHIP
	DATES
	POSITIONS HELD
	MISDEEDS
	LAND

HOLDING

	Ralph Copcot
	Gent
	Son of Richard, husband of Beatrice Gent,
	Mar Beatrice Gent 1570

Had 4 boys and 3 girls

Buried July 1595
	Grand Jury Herts

Baliff  of Rectory Manor
	Fined but pardoned for playing bowls 1576.Fined for fighting John Hammond 1584.Fined for ploughing baulk 1584.Complained to Star Chamber re Pirton Riots 1588.Imprisoned Alice Hanscombe 1588.Caused a riot in Hitchin  with 10 others, fined  April 1594.
	Freeholder

Customary tenant of 3 Manors

	Beatrice Gent
	
	Wife of Ralph Copcot 
	Mar Ralph Copcot 1570

Widowed July 1595

Mar Henry Lane Oct 1595
	
	Presented to the Archdeanery Court by churchwardens for adultery? 1587. .Caused a riot in Hitchin and fined 1594.
	Freeholder

	Ralph Copcot
	Gent
	Son of Ralph and Beatrice
	Bap 1575
	Student at Cambridge University 1592
	Caused a riot in Hitchin and fined 1594
In prison 1603 offence unknown
	

	William Hammond
	Yeoman
	
	Died 1605 ?
	
	Complained to Star Chamber re Pirton Riots 1588.

Complained about Thomas Docwra enclosing land 1603.
Defendant in Quarter sessions case Nov 1588
	Freeholder

Customary tenant of 3 Manors

	John Hammond
	
	Kinsman of William
	
	Witness Ralph Copcot’s will
	Fined for ploughing baulk and allowing sheep to graze the meadow1584. 
	Freeholder Copyholder

	Robert Auncell
	Husbandman
	Son of Richard and Martha Auncell
	Mar Ellen Bullin 1582  who died 1600

Had Robert 1582 and Elizabeth1595
Mar Alice Hanscombe 1604 who died 1617

Buried 1616
	Jury Manor court of Pirton1600.
	Defendant in Pirton Riot case at Star Chamber 1588 admitted taking cattle into field but not damage.

 Defendant in Quarter sessions case Jan and April 1589
	Copyholder

Customary tenant of 3 Manors

	Thomas Auncell
	Labourer
	Son of Richard and Martha Auncell
	Had 2 children Mary 1581, Ellen 1588

Buried 1625
	Sidesman / Churchwarden?
	 Petitioner in Quarter session case 1588
Defendant in Quarter sessions case Jan and April1589
	Copyholder

	Matthew Auncell
	Labourer
	Son of Richard and Martha Auncell
	Married Ann 1581

Had 6 children Joseph, Rhoda,Ann,William
,Robert,Christopher

Buried 1595
	Sidesman / Churchwarden?

Constable 1585
	
	Copyholder of Manor Rectory

	William Auncell
	Labourer
	Son of Richard and Martha Auncell
	
	Sidesman / churchwarden?
	Defendant in Quarter sessions case  Jan 1589
	

	Richard Auncell
	
	Father of Auncell brothers
	Married Martha

Had 10 children

Died before 1600
	Juror of Manor of Rectory and Pirton
	Fined by Copcot 1576 for not repairing house

On jury which fined Ralph Copcot for ploughing baulk
	Copyholder of  the 3 manors


	Thomas Auncell senior
	
	Brother of Richard Auncell
	Died 1584
	Juror of Manor of Rectory and Pirton
	Played bowls 1576 pardoned
	Copyholder



	Thomas Auncell 
	
	Son of Thomas Auncell sen
	
	Juror  Rectory and Pirton

Constable 1603
	Played bowls with Ralph Copcot and Thomas Ferrian 1576 pardoned
	Copyholder



	Thomas Auncell of Ickleford
	Gent
	
	
	Lord of Manor of Ickleford from 1580

Juror of Manor of Rectory and Pirton
	
	Freeholder and copyholder of three Pirton Manors

	William Auncell
	Yeoman
	Brother of Richard Auncell?
	Married Alice

Had son Matthew 1585
	Churchwarden?
	
	Buys and sells land with  village gentry

	John Sex
	Carpenter
	Husband of Joan
	Married Joan Godfrey1583

Had 4 children

Buried1626
	1586 and 1596 hedgebarrow

1609 constable

Manor courts 1580 onwards. Witness in both Martha and Ann Auncell will
	Defendant in Pirton Riot case at Star Chamber 1588.denied any involvement in riot. 

Was constable when Copcot  and Hammond were fined for ploughing the baulk


	Copyholder

	Thomas Hanscombe
	Labourer
	
	Married 1581

Had 4 girls 1581-1597
	
	Defendant in Pirton Riot case at Star Chamber 1588 admitted taking cattle into field but not damage.


	Tenant of Ralph Copcot


It is clear that English society was highly stratified and that stratification reflected major differentials in the social distribution of wealth, status and power: “We in England divide our people commonlie into foure sorts” said William Harrison in 1577.
 However, in this research into a rural area five groups have been identified: the gentry, yeomen, husbandmen, craftsmen and labourers.  Gentility was based on landed wealth, which in turn gave rise to local recognition.
 There were variations in gentry on the basis of wealth: there were upper, middling and parish gentry.  Parish gentry usually farmed between fifty and thousand acres; they were often essentially large farmers although they rarely engaged in manual labour. The establishment and maintenance of the status of being a ‘country gentleman’, and so part of the gentry, depended upon the acquisition and retention of landed wealth.  Birth, the genteel lifestyle and activity in places of authority were secondary criteria. 

Yeomen occupied a lower position in the same hierarchy of rural society. The social status amongst countrymen depended far less upon the form of a man’s land tenure than upon the amount of land he held.  Yeoman status was accorded to men who farmed a substantial acreage, usually in excess of fifty acres.  Farmers of smaller acreages, between five and fifty acres for example, were generally accorded the name husbandman, while at the bottom of the rural social scale came labourers. Members of the latter group might hold a few acres, but was distinguished by the fact that they needed to undertake labour for a wage for others, to a greater or lesser extent, if they were to make a reasonable living.

The enclosure in Pirton involved a cross-section of the community, with gentleman and yeoman on the side of enclosure and husbandman, craftsmen and labourers on the other side fighting to protect their common rights. Although it is stated that twenty people were involved in the riots, it may be significant that the three named rioters Auncell, Sex and Hanscombe belonged to each of the three lower levels of society.  This follows the pattern that Manning identified for the late sixteenth century: in the first half, gentry were against gentry but in the second half of the century, lower social groups were against the gentry.
  However, the Auncells, as a family group, do not seem to fit neatly into this social strata; they range from Thomas who was lord of the manor of Ickleford,
 William, a yeoman,
 Robert, a husbandman, and his brothers who were described as labourers.  Robert Auncell appears to be the ringleader of the riot. Despite his status of husbandman, his family connections with the Lord of the Manor, may have given him the backing and confidence to oppose Copcot and Hammond.  He was the one singled out by them for further punishment in the Quarter Sessions case.  Copcot and Hammond were aware of the position and power of Thomas Auncell, the questioning in the Star Chamber case appears to try to prove that another member of the gentry was behind the riot.  Maybe Thomas Auncell was behind the attack on enclosure but the others covered for him. It is impossible to know from the evidence available. Another contradictory aspect as to which side of the enclosure debate the parish gentry were on, was the fact that William Hammond, together with his kinsman John, complained that Thomas Docwra, Lord of the Manor of Pirton, was enclosing land in 1603.
  However, Hammond was happy with enclosure as long as he had been a beneficiary.
The social status of participants in positions of authority followed the same pattern. Distribution of office holding in village life usually followed the distribution of wealth: churchwardens, vestrymen, overseers of the poor and quarter sessions jurymen all tended to be drawn from among the petty gentry and the yeomanry of the village.  Husbandman and craftsmen served much more rarely in such prestigious positions, but most commonly held the humbler posts of sidesmen and constable.  Labourers and poor craftsmen scarcely ever participated in village administration.  Harrison asserted: ‘England’s yeoman were to be included amongst those who governed the nation, while husbandman, artificers and labourers [though occasionally holding village office] could be generally dismissed as having “neither voice nor authoritie in the common wealthe”.
  Was Robert Auncell fighting against this?
During the early modern period, the yeoman and minor gentry, as officers and representatives of the rural community, identified with programmes of order and social discipline.  Copcot was bailiff of Rectory Manor, responsible for the smooth running of the estate.  Both he and Hammond served on the Grand Jury at county level.  These roles conferred on them the position of respectability within the community and county.  John Sex however was a carpenter who was a customary tenant of the manor of Pirton. He held minor parish roles, including hedgebarrow in 1586 and 1596 and later on, was a constable.
   As Sex was a person with the position in the community, this might explain why he strongly denied any involvement in the riots.  There is no surviving record to indicate whether Thomas Hanscombe held any community role, but it is unlikely. The Auncell family position is again ambivalent, as they had a foot in both camps.  One of Roberts’s brothers was churchwarden, perhaps it was William the yeoman.  One was a sidesman. Perhaps Matthew or Thomas, both labourers, were involved.  The Auncells all served on the jury in the Manor courts, holding minor offices such as constable, but Robert does not appear in this role until 1600. 
  Perhaps the powerful Copcots vetoed his appointment, because although he was a customary tenant, he did not serve until they had left the village by the beginning of the seventeenth century. 
Social interaction in the small rural community at this time was also based on the concept of ‘neighbourliness.’  Inhabitants knew that they should live peaceably and harmoniously, recognise their obligations of placing no unreasonable burden on the tolerance of the community.
  In the community of 200 people in Pirton daily contact would be inevitable. All levels of society had to cooperate to survive. But the dynamics of this local society were slowly changing. The changes were often the result of conflicts. Although, as stated earlier, the parish gentry generally maintained law and order in the community, the Copcots seemed to have varied from the norm.  Ralph’s grandfather was named as a rioter in an earlier Pirton Star Chamber case and implicated in a further two Chancery cases.
  Ralph himself was fined for drawing blood of another prominent yeoman (John Hammond) in 1584.
  We are not told what this fight was about but two years later Beatrice Copcot was presented to the Archdeaconry Courts in Baldock as an adulteress by the churchwardens. Ralph was not powerful enough to stop this allegation, made by one of the Auncells, reaching a level of society beyond the village. Whether this allegation was true or not, we are not told, but Mrs Copcot certainly remarried three months after her husband’s death.
  Ralph, his wife and son, continue to cause trouble with a further appearance for assault and riotous assembly in 1594 in Hitchin.
  
As has been seen from the Quarter Sessions account, Copcot the gentleman, seems to have been able to buy himself out of trouble, but Hammond who was only a yeoman could not.  Perhaps wealthy people could afford to act irresponsibly or were less likely to be brought to justice.  Copcot’s standing in the community and county appeared not to have diminished, as he was elected for the Grand Jury in the Hertford assize four times between 1592 and 1595.
  But, unlike Thomas Docwra, he was never made Justice of the Peace, a higher honour.  Copcot and Hammond were further implicated in the libels made against the minister and other inhabitants, which were hung on the maypole. It is not clear who wrote these but records show that the Auncells were unable to write. Surely Copcot, who has a son at Cambridge and is a gentleman, would have been literate?  Ralph’s son Ralph seems to have carried on the family tradition for misdemeanours as he did not finished his degree and was imprisoned by 1603.
  
The Auncells, on the other hand, seemed to fit the role of law-abiding citizens within the community, except for a minor manor court offence. Robert’s father was fined by Ralph Copcot for not repairing his building.
  It appears that they were on the side of law and order, or possibly good at not getting caught.  Matthew Auncell was the village constable the year before the Star Chamber case; other kinsmen were on the Manor court jury and moving out of the local context, Thomas Auncell was juryman at the quarter sessions in the Copcot trial of 1594.
  The only occasion when both families were on the wrong side the law was in 1576 when Ralph Copcot and Thomas Auncell were at the mercy of the court for playing bowls without permission. Because it was a private game within the Copcot’s garden, the two were pardoned.

It is difficult to find out if a feud existed between the Auncells and the Copcots before the Star Chamber case. It appears that Robert did take part in the riot and may perhaps even have organised it as he was able to outwit both Copcot and Hammond. They went out of their way to cause trouble for Robert, in revenge, after losing the Star Chamber case.  As usual there appears to be a grain of truth in all the allegations in the quarter sessions case.  Beatrice did remarry with indecent haste and even Robert Auncell married Alice Hanscombe after a more acceptable interval after his wife’s death.

Why did the riots happen in Pirton?

It has not been possible to discover accurate figures for landholding for a variety of reasons. From the manors in Pirton there are no rental records surviving for the sixteenth century and only one survey of 1556.  Furthermore, manors could cover more than one parish and often landholders held land in manors where no records have survived. Although court rolls give a rough idea of the level of holding, not all of them have survived for the five manors in Pirton. The Copcot family, moving from St Albans at the beginning of the sixteenth century, had built up personal wealth based on land.
  Richard, Ralph’s great-grandfather, also bought and sold the manor of Ashwell, gradually acquiring land in Pirton.  Ralph inherited the lease of the parsonage of the manor of Pirton Rectory from Richard his father, including the tithes, glebes and all land associated with Rectory Manor.
  In fact, he was the main tenant.  In a similar way, the Hammonds were the main tenants of the manor of Pirton Doddingsells.  Between them they had control of most of the land and therefore had the power to initiate agriculture improvements such as enclosure.  The land which caused the controversy was part of the Manor of Pirton, where perhaps Copcot and Hammond held less sway.  Docwra, lord of the Manor of Pirton, had his own ideas about profiting from enclosure.
  Perhaps he backed their attempt as the first step in improvement, so that he could follow later.

Robert Auncell was a much smaller player.  His father Richard held at least 20 acres of copyhold.
  Richard was one of his seven sons and it is not clear whether he was the oldest and therefore most likely to inherit.  At the time of the dispute, Robert was a young, newly married man setting up his own household.  His father was still alive, presumably farming his own land.  Robert was described as husbandmen and must have held at least twenty acres, either through inheritance from other kinsman, by buying his own land, or sub-letting.  Records show that some land was bought and sold and not all handed down within the family.  
Interestingly, in1600 after Copcot’s death Robert bought the controversial close of pasture called Swathes.
  It was still called a close and therefore presumably the fences were re-erected by Copcot and became permanent.  The description of the land in contention varies depending on the party’s point of view.   Copcot and Hammond said that it was pasture ground which has been enclosed “time out of mind”.  Auncell stated that it was arable ground in the common fields, which Copcot and Hammond had been enclosing over a six-year period. Converting arable ground into pastures was illegal, because the Tillage Act was not repealed until 1593, but the usual process when changing to convertible husbandry was first to lay the field down to pasture to recover the fertility therefore the land may not have been withdrawn from tillage.  It is not clear who was right, but evidence shows that there was very little pasture in the parish and some of the poorest arable ground made an inadequate return or profit.  Manor records rarely mentioned use of land, but a 1664 terrier showing land held by the Hammonds lists 224 acres of arable, 20 acres of meadow, and 16 acres of pasture and 5 acres of woodland
. The proportion of arable land to meadow and pasture was very high with no wastes; scarcity of pasturage was a big issue at that time. Three years before the Star Chamber case, Copcot was fined for ploughing the baulk, three of the customary tenants were fined 10 shillings each for pasturing sheep on the green, and three others for pasturing on meadows
. Hammond’s kinsman was fined for both offences.
It seems that Copcot and Hammond had been trying to extinguish common use rights. All landholders, whether copyhold or freehold held rights over other people’s land. Freehold tenants with arable holdings automatically had right to common pasture, customary tenants had to demonstrate long usage before their rights were recognised.  Auncell, Sex, and Handscombe were new customary tenants and perhaps had less authority to speak when the village bylaws were being drawn up.  The gentry and yeomen understood that innovations were best carried out on land held in severalty rather than in the common field system. The idea that: ‘this land is mine and I will farm it the way I want, rather than the way the community wants,’ had great effect on how a community operated. This new concept of landholding would affect all aspects of village life, changing both the economic and social structure of a village. It was the beginning of the break-up of village society and the beginning of polarisation. Before this time, it was a co-operative society but this point marked a move towards an individualistic society.  Husbandmen were more cautious about trying improvements and preferred to retain customary rights. It has been estimated that a husbandman with 30 acres might make a net farming profit of £14-15 in a normal year; £11 was needed to feed a man, wife and 4 children and therefore left a surplus of £3-4. Poor harvests could wipe this out.
  Common rights were vital to survival. Yeomen on the other hand with incomes of at least £40 could afford to be more adventurous.

Perhaps Auncell recognised that changes were coming, he was acting in defence of specific rights and customs which the poorer inhabitants of Pirton wanted to see respected and maintained.  Rioters are often accused of either being backward looking or taking care of posterity.
  In this case because of the scarcity of pasture common rights were of great importance and worth fighting for. The ordinances of customs of the Manor were redefined in the time leading to the Star Chamber case.  The smaller tenants were trying to make sure that the larger tenant farmers did not ride roughshod over them.  

Conclusion

The evidence, as far as it goes, indicates that a village revolt against enclosure did take place in 1588, the year of the Spanish Armada but the implication is that the revolt was unsuccessful as the contentious land remained enclosed.  Unlike the majority of the cases studied by Manning, it seems that the land that had been enclosed in Pirton was arable land in the common fields. This may have been changed into land for convertible husbandry. Tenants would lose their rights to pasture on the fallow, Lammas lands and after harvest. It is noticeable from later Pirton surveys that, through exchanges of land, landholders were consolidating strips into blocks possibly for enclosure. These blocks would bring in a higher rent. Piecemeal enclosure by informal means must have continued through the first part of the seventeenth century, although no written agreements survive. The tension between agricultural improvements and the need for pasturage of the smaller tenants seems to have come to a head after the Restoration. It was noted in the manor court rolls that tenants had previously been allowed to enclose one acre for every twenty owned but “this practice must now cease”. The same document goes on to redefine in great detail the use of the common fields. 
 Conflict between absolute and exclusive rights of private property and common use-rights rumbled on in the village through the seventeenth century but there are no further accounts of any village revolts there.

Often historians argue that rioters were reactionary wanting to preserve their old ways.
  For example, Manning concluded that: 

It will not do to mistake the hyperbole of Star Chamber complaints or pamphleteers for evidence of the roots of radicalism or revolutionary behaviour.  With very few exceptions, the men, women, and children who participated in social protest during the Tudor and early-Stuart periods were guided by tradition and custom and were vainly attempting to restore a lost world which may never have existed.
    
But this was not so in Pirton.  Their fight was for survival.  Economic hardship, not tradition, caused the revolt in Pirton. The communal common field system continued until parliamentary enclosure after the Napoleonic wars.
  The parliamentary surveyor’s report shows that less than a fifth of the parish was enclosed at that time.
  Robert Auncell had made his mark in standing up for the community rather than the individual.
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Appendix 1

Complaint of Copcot and Hammond

STAC 5/C 22/39 [Star Chamber Court 1588]

(This document has damage to the top right hand corner so it cannot all be transcribed)

To the Queens most Excellent Majestie  

………. Complayninge shewethe, unto your highenes your true and fathefull  Subiects Ralph Copcott of Pyrton  in the Countie  of Hertford gent  and William Hamond of the same towne  & Countie  yoman  That whereas your said Subjects were lawefully  seazed  in their domeane as of fface of in ……of pasture ground (amongest  other Lands) and of customary closes situate lieing  & beinge  in the Parish and feilds of Pyrton  in Hertford of Rents helde of  the mannor  of Pyrton  in the said countie  that is to saie  of & in one close of pasture ground in afeild  called by the name of the …………. and also of and in one close of pasture ground called Swathes situate leinge  & beinge  in the said feilde pf Pyrton  and of & in one being aplace  called Rakepytte in the said Wyndmylle leyefield  in the said parish of Pyrton  and beinge  further seazed  of & in one …… of ground situate lynge and beinge  in the said parish and fields of Pyrton  in aplace  called the Bullplatt which Closes the said Subjects and those ……….. the have in the saide have peaceably & quietly enjoyed as closes & grounds inclosed , tyme out of mynde  of man, to the contrarie yt  is, if yt  may please your majestie  that one Robert Auncell of Pyrton in the said Countie  of Hertford husbandman, John Sexe of the same Town and Countie  carpenter, and Thomas Hanscombe of the same town and Countie Laborer  with others malefactors & evill  disposed persons to the number of twentie  being meare  strangers unto your said subjects & unknowen  the Xxij  daye  of Jannarye  Last past, and dyvers  & sundrie  tymes  since most riotouslie & ruinslie most forcible maner ?attacahinge  themselves together that ys  to saie  with Clubbes  Staves, Bylles hatchetts  mattocks, shovelles , spads  & other weapons contarie  to your Majesties peace, and Contraye  to the Lawes  & Statuts  in this case, made & provided, have entered into the said closes of pasture ground & other the premisss  and have not only in vearie  forcyble  riotous and routons manner cutt in peice  & hewed downe your said Subjects gate belonginge  to the said closes & other the premisses    But also have pulled upp  throwne  & cutt  downe  the hedge fence and Inclosures  belonginge to the same   And also about the feaste of Annuciation  of the Blessed Virgin Marye  Last past, have in like riotous sort cutt extyrpated  & spoyled  the quicksett  hedgs  which  beinge  in and about the same the sayd  pastures havinge  no good nor lawefull  cullour  interest or tytle  so to do, which if theye  had ought  not in such parte  to be refused by reason of which sayd  riotous & routous  Attempte  and unlawefull  Assemblies your sayd  Subjects have Lost and yett  do Lose the benefytt or profytt of the herbage and sowinge  of their said Closes, the same beinge  spolyed  and eaten upp  with other men’s Cattle throughe the evyll  lewd   practise of the sayd  Robert Auncell, John Sexe and Thomas Hanscombe and others, their confederate disturberse  of your Majesties peace to the great hynderance  and utter undoinge of your said Subjects, and to the dangerous and evill example of others as lowedly  mynded  as them selves yf  so, speidie  remedie , redress and order for the punishinge  of the malfactors  be not herein had & provided  by your Highness In tender cosidacion whereof maye  yt  therefore please your most excellant  Majestie  the primesses  considered aswell   for your Majesty said Subjects, better and quiet, enjoyinge of their Lawefull  inheritancs  and righte  to the sayd  primesses  as also for examples sake and for terrosienge  and admonishinge  of all other evillie like disposed persons from commiting  the like Lewde riotous attempts and practisce  here after to grant unto your saide  subjects your Majesties most gracious wrytt  of subpena  to be directed unto the said Robert Auncell, John Sexe, and Thomas Hanscombe comanndinge  them, and every of them, thereby Att adaye  certen  and under acerten  paine therein to be rymittted personally to Appeare  before your Majestie in your ………….. Court of Starre  Chamber, then and there to Answere  to the primesses    And further to stand to and abyde  such order & direccon  and abyde such primesses and to plye suche  synes  for their said offences as to your Highenes  shall seime  meete & expediant, and also that upon the knowledge of the rest of the malefactors your subiects mayde have process to call them likewise unto they said court to answere to te premises and to  abyde  such order as the said Court shall it make merit   And your said Subjects shall daylie praye  unto god for the preservacion  or your Majestie  accordinge  to the bounded duties which god Longe  contynue 

W Cocke

Appendix 2
 Defence of Auncell,Sex and Hanscombe STAC 5/C22/39
1.Robert Auncell

Juras  An XXX  Elizabethe Regine

The answere  of Robert Ansell defndante  to the untrue bill of complainte of Raffe  Copcott and William Hamonde  Complaynants  

The sed  defendante by protestacion  saithe that the said bill of complainte against him exhibited for so much as concerneth  the defendante  is verie false, slanderous and untrue, and feyned  and demised of purpose as he supposeth by this wrongfull  and unjust vexacion  to procure this defendante  and others to lose, or at least, to forbaere  to take their just right and title of Common of in and to the closes and new made pastures in the said bill named and not of anie  good just or right cause of matter  And also the same is verye  insufficient in the lawe to be answered unto for divse apparent causes and matters  Wherefore this defendante  hopeth  he shall in this honourable Courte , be released for his costs and charges in this wrongfull  cause sustayned  yet nevertheless yf  he shalbe  compelled to make anie further other answere  to the said untrue bill then for a full and plaine  declaracion  of the trueth  of all the matters in the said bill concerninge this defendante he saith  that true it is that the said complaynant  were seized of severall  parcells  of lande  situate and beinge  in common fields  of Pyrton  and so beinge  seised  aboute six yeres  past and sythence  have severally  enclosed severall parcels of grounde  to their owne  personall  uses (as they pretend) which were grounds lyinge  in the comon fielde  and comon  to all the tennants  and inhabitants of the said towne  of Pyrton  at all times of the yere  when the same fields  were fallowe, and dyd  lye  fresh  and unsowen  and when the field were sowen  they were comon after  harvest that the crope  were taken awaye  according and as there is and hath byne  an ordynarye  use in their comonage  and feedinge thereby reason of which enclosure this defendante  and others have and doo  lose a great parte  of the proffitt  of their feedinge , and for that he and the rest are poore  people and unwillinge  to abide in sute of lawe  the said complaynants  intendinge  their trouble have framed this devise as this defendante  is nerely  persuaded to drawe  him and the rest by feare  to suffer them to inioye  their said new made severalls , some of them not of the age of a yere , without anie  good cause, without that that the closes named in the said bill were or have byn , time out of mynde  of man enioyed  as severall  grounds, for this defendante  saith  that the most ancient of them is not nowe to his remembrance six yeres continuance and without that, that this defendante together with the other two defendants, or anie  others, the two and twentieth daie of Jannurye  last, or at anie time thence Ryottuslie or eny forcyble manner dyd  enter into the said closes, or anie  of them in the bill named, or did cut downe  or heretofore have intended to cut in peeces  the gates belonginge  to the said closes, or have pulled upp  or cutt  downe the hedges, fencyes and enclosures belonginge to the same or that this defendante  aboute  the feast of Thannunciacion  of our Ladie  last past did in any parte  ryottous, or otherwise cut, extirpate and spoile  the quicksett  hedges which were growinge aboute the same closes as the said complaynants  most slanderous lie and most falslie  and untruely  in their said bill of complainte have suggested, but this defendante  saith  and confesseth that himself without anie  number of other persons with him for the maynteynance  of his tytle comon  dyde sythence  Easter last set opon the gate of the pasture in the bill named called Swathes to the end his catle  might goo  in to use and take his comon  accordingly which is all that he as yet hath don , but he humblie  prayeth  that the said complayante  by the order of this Honourable Court  maye be compelled either to lay open the said closes againe or ells  that they should by order of this Courte take their proceedinge  by distress as the cattell in the said enclosure to thee  end a perfect triall  at the comon lawe  might be had and taken with will or meane  to avoide many Injuries and wronges  that were intended and offered to be done as well by, and without that that ther  is anie  other matter or thing mutuall  against this defendante  in the said bill of complainte  contained and not herein sufficientlie confessed, avoided, denyed or tranverse  is true  All with matters this defendante  is readie to sworre  and prove as this Honourable Courte  shall award, and prayeth that he may be dismissed out of this Honourable Courte  with his reasonable costs and chardges for his wrongful vexacion  in this behalf susteyned

GREY

2. John Sex and Thomas Hanscombe
Juras  22  October  An XXX Elizabeth Reign Cora

The defense of John Sexe and Thomas Hanscombe of Raff Copcott complaining.

The said defendants sainge  to themselves at all times the benefit  and advantage of excepcion  to the insufficiences  and Imperfections of the said bill for answere  to so much of the said bill as concerneth  these defendants said, and only of them for himself saith  that as to the riotts, unlawfull assemblies and others the misdemeanores  in the said bill mencioned and examynable in this Honourable Court that they no  any of them are thereof guiltie  in such sort manner and forme as the said complaynant against them and others in his said bill hath untruelie  alledged but the said Thomas Hanscombe further saith  and confesseth  that the said closes, in the said bill mencioned , were all of late and not longe ?sithome grounds lyinge in the common fields and not enclosed, and that he and those whose estate he hath in a certeyne  grounds in Pyrton in the Countie Hetford have alwayes  had and used to have comon  in the ffields  where the said closes lye  and in the said closes or grounds that now are enclosed yerely  when the same did lye  freshe  and unsowen when it was sowen , then when the corne  was caried  away accordinge  and as the usage of commage hath byn used and had there, and that he the said Thomas Hanscombe for the haveing  his comon did, in or aboute  the tyme  mencioned , in the said bill by himself in a paineable manner goo  to the said fealls  and opened the gates or gapps  to lett in is catle  for the usuage of his said comon  and not otherwyse , as he hopeth  Lawful was for him so to doo , without that, that there is any other matter or thinge  matteriall  in the said bill contayned  against these defendants, and not herein sufficientlie  confessed, avoided, denied or tranvsed  is true  All which matters the said defendants and either of them are readie  to awer  and prove as this Honourable Court shall award and prayeth that they maye  be dismissed out of this Honourable Courte 

Morris Read 

Appendix3

Interogatories

STAC 5/C21/13

1 Imprimis Anie whethe[r] doo  you knowe  Ralf  Copcott & Willm Hammond, complaynants  and how Longe have you knowen  them.

2 Itemwhethe[r] doo  knowe  all the grounds in controuv[er]sie  question or Anie of them.

3 Item Whether did you alone or together, with others, either hewe Cutt  downe , Carry Awaye  or Laye  open anie  gate of the said complaynants  belonging to Anie of the Closes & grounds in the Parish of Pyrton , nowe  in question att  Anie  tyme heretofore, and howe Longe  ys yt  since you did the same, and to what intent have you done the same, yf so then who be theye thatt have so done what be their names, and who were present Att  the doinge  thereof.

4 Item Att  what tyme  of the daye or night have you or Anie of youe  Att  Anie  tyme  heretofore, or Anie  other to your or Anie  of your knowledge, or by your or Anie  of your helpes, meanes , assente, consente or procuremente  either Cutt downe , plucked upp, throwen downe  or Layde  open Anie gate, fence or quicksetts beloninge  unto Anie  grounds of the said complainants within the said Parish of Pyrton, and howe often have you or Anie of you done the same, and by whose perswacon  have you  done the same.

5 Item Whether did you, or Anie of you, Att  Anie  tyme saye unto Anie  person or persons thatt  you, or Anie  of you, were Consentinge and Acounsell  with one Thomas Auncell, or Anie other, about the pullinge  upp  and throwinge  open of all the hedge and fence of the closes & grounds in question, or of Anie  parte or parcell  thereof   And whether  did you, or Anie  of you, further saye unto Anie  person, or persons, that yf  the said Thomas Auncell, have bene so good as  his worde  that then other fenses  and Inclosures within the said Parish of Pyrton  should have bene  throwne  & Layde  open also as well as the rest, or what other worde have you or Anie of you spoken unto Anie  other person or persons whatsoever as Condininge  the Cutinge  downe and laying open of the said gate or fence belonging to the said ground noted in variant.

Appendix 4
 Answers to the interrogatories

STAC 5/C21/13

1. John Sex
John Sexe of the parish of Pyrton  in the Countye of Hertford, Carpenter aforesaid saith

To the first Interogatory this defendant saith  he knoweth the sayd  Complaynors  and their kinsmen therin  duringe all the tyme of his remembrance 

To the secund Interogatory this defendant saethe he knoweth all the grounds in controversie  and question betwixt the said Complayners and……..

To the 3 Interogatory  this defendant denyethe that either alone or in company with any others he did hewe cutt  down, carrye  Awaye  or laye open anye gate or gates of the said Compleyners belonginge  to any of the Closes and grounds in question.

To the iiij th Interogatory this defendant saieth  as he sed before, and further saiyeth  he did not nor any…time heretofore to cutt downe pluck up throwe downe or laye open any of the sed gates fences or quicksett belonging with any of the said groundes as is supposed

To the Vth Interogatory the defendant saethe he dyd never use any such speeches as be sett fourthe in the interogatory

XX [his mark]

2. Robert Auncell
The case Xxii Janry  ……………………….. ?Supier  Interogatory  re person Rad[olphus]  Copcot oral gave in answer.

Roberd  Aunsell of Pyrton  in the County of Hertford, husbandman aforesaid 

To the first Interogatory he sayies  he knowethe the Coplayners in this cause and there  kinsmen……. during all the time of his knowledge.

To the secund Interogatory  this defendant sayeth  he knoweth all the grounds in controversie 

To the 3 Interogatory  this defendant sayeth that he alone did sett  open a certen  gate belonging to a close called Swathes about Easter last past to entere  that his cattle might go into the said close and take cowes  there.  But this defendant denyeth  thate  he hewe  cutt  downe , carry away any gate or gates of the sed complainants or any of them in any of the sed closes or groundes in question either alone or in company of any others as is supposed

.

To the iiij th  Interogatory  he denyeth all the contens of the Interogatory  for his Awun  part savinge  for himself as he hathe cu……in the interogatory precedent and dyd deny also the same Interogatory  for his part of any others to his knowledge.

To the V Interogatory this defendant denyeth  thate  he with.any other or any others persun  was or were councel  or consenting about the pulling up & throwing open of all or any the hedges fences of the closes and grounds now in question or any parte or parcell thereof as is supposed whiche  alle he remember then he see or spoke any suche  matter or matters as be  culyned in the Interogatory  or any part thereof.

Robert Auncell

3. Thomas Hanscombe
Thomas Hanscombe of Pyrton in the Countie  of Hertford, labourer  saiethe  

To the first Interogatory  the defendant sayethe he knoweth  and hath knowen the said complaynants  in this cause for the space of X yeares  past or there abowe.

To the second Interogatory  the defendant saiethe  he knoweth the grounds in controversie  belonging to the said complaynants and closes.

To the 3 Interogatory  this defendant saeth  that he himself havinge  no other person or persons in his company dyd  at dyvers tymes in the daye  tyme  laye open a certen gate of the syd complaynents belonging to a certen close or peece of ground in the parish of pyrton called swathes to the end that The cattle of this defendant & the cattle of other poore  inhabitants in the said Towne  might take Common in the fildes  of Pirton aforesaid.  But this defendant denyethe that he alone or in the company with any other either hewe cutt downe or carry away any gate or gates of the said complainants belonging to any of the closes and grounds in the parish of pyrton aforesaid as is supposed

To the iiij th  Interogatory  this defendant sayethe for his Aowne  part he dyd not pluck upp  cutt  downe or laye open any gate fences or quicksetts belonginge unto any of the said grounds other than that which he hath before declared in the Interogatory  next precedent  neither was he a ………….. or had caused or was procuring to the defacng  , plucking up or throwing downe  of any of the same fences, gates or quicksetts  att any tyme  as is supposed other than  that which he hath before declared.

To the Vth  Interogatory this defendant denyeth  that he sed  or used any suche speches  at any tyme  as be sett fourthe in the Interogatory.

X [his mark]

Appendix 5

Petition to Quarter sessions by Thomas Auncell

HATSR/1 48

To the right worshipful the Queenes majesties justices of the peace within her highnes countye of Hartford

most humblie craving your worshippes favours touching a brother of myne by name Robert Auncell of Purton who is accused of a false reporte but altogether of malice as shall appeare unto your worshippes by sufficient witnesses whereas there happened a greate breach between Mr Copcote of Pirton and his wife so that there were weapons drawne at eight or nyne of of the clocke in the night, which is not unknowne to some of the worshipfull of this bench, wherby the churchwardens and men were driven to present the sayd Mr Copcote his wife of common fame of unchaste life, whereof one of the churchwardens and one of the sydes men were brethren unto the said Robert Auncell who have throwne downe certayne newe inclosures enclosed within this fyve or sixe years by Mr Copcote William Hammond and others whereupon they have had the saide Robert Auncell and other poor men into the starre chamber to his and there greate charges And not having their myndes and of him as they thought they shoulde devysed other meanes, that is to saye William Hammond using much Mr Copcotes house, Mr Copcote, his wife, and William Hammond used meanes to the wife of the said Robert Ansell to grow in suspecion of her husband with one Alice Hanscome, whereupon they sent for one Cranfield of Shefford whose behaviour is well known to some of the worshipfull of this bench that he have led a loose life, and got him to make a lybel a Mr Copcotes house against the said Robert Auncell my brother and the said Alice Hanscome, and did cause certayne poore men to set to  their handes who confessed afterwards that they never  had it red, And a further did intyse the said Robert's wife to have said that the said Alice Hanscome was an errant whore who made answer that she did not know any such thing neither would say any such thing,And when they perceived that shee would not yield unto there wicked practices threatened her and fell out with her and did keepe her there contrarye to her husbandes mynde. And afterwards caused one of the churchwardens to present the said Robert Auncell with out the consent of the other churchwardens or any of the sydesman which was not allowed to be good in the courte, And what the said Mr Copcote his wife, have ben and her troubles which she have made and I referre unto your worshippes to consider of, And further  these maye be to let your worshippes understand that there have the other lybelles made against our minister and others of our towne and have been hanged upon the maye pole and others have been throwne abrode in hitchen to the discredit of men and women
your worshippes most humble to comannd

Thomas Auncell
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� HALS:48776 Rectory manor court rolls. The Pirton minister was a curate who had a room at the Parsonage where Copcot lived.
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� HALS:D/ER E66, a complaint made by John and William Hammond against Thomas Dockwray, 28 Dec 1603


� Quoted in Wrightson, English Society, p.37


� HALS: 48462, manor of Pirton court rolls,1596; HALS: 48459/80, manor of Pirton court rolls,1545-1624
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� HALS: An entry in the Pirton parish register shows that Beatrice Copcot married Henry Lane in October 1595.


� HALS: HAT/SR6/152, Sessions rolls of the Quarter Sessions held at Hatfield, 1594.
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� HALS: 48776, Rectory manor court rolls, 1576.
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� Pirton village bylaws (HALS have ‘lost’ the original document and have no reference for it.)


� See Wrightson, English Society, p.176.
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� Manorial ordinances continue to be defined but less frequently in the second half of the eighteenth century.


� HALS: 51346, Pirton Parliamentary Enclosure Miscellaneous papers.
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